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      The first court in which I ever appeared was Marlborough Street Magistrates’ Court, defending a young woman who had looted
         the perfume department of John Lewis. I need not have bothered. It was a waste of her money. In the 1960s £25 was the tariff
         for a first offence of shoplifting, whether the offender was represented or not.
      

      
      As the years went on a number of my clients either lived or, more often, had clubs in Soho and fell foul of the licensing
         laws, which they mostly simply ignored. As a result, I appeared on a regular basis in front of the formidable magistrates
         who sat there.
      

      
      In my earliest days, the incumbents were the ex-naval officer Leo Gradwell and Edward Robey, the barrister son of the great
         comedian George. They shared a room above their respective courts and did not get on well. It was said that the second to
         leave the room turned the photograph of the other’s wife and children to the wall. Of them Frank Milton, later the chief magistrate,
         paraphrased a little rhyme, converting it to:
      

      
      
         Oh to live in Soho

         
         The land of the ponce and the sod,

         
         Where Robey speaks only to Gradwell

         
         And Gradwell speaks only to God.

         
      

      
      In those days cases of indecency between men in the various Soho cottages were not treated with any sympathy. In his upper-class
         drawl, John Maude, who later sat at the Old Bailey, asked a police constable, who had spread-eagled himself on the roof of
         a lavatory the better to keep observation on what went on in the cubicles below, ‘Officer, are you happy in your work?’ On
         another occasion a magistrate hearing an indecency case I was defending – and he must have heard a couple a day, every day
         of the year – was told that when the policeman had flashed his torch he had seen Smith with Jones’s penis in his mouth. The
         magistrate pushed back his chair and exclaimed, ‘God, how disgusting!’ It was easy to see it was not going to be one of my
         more successful days.
      

      
      He was not the Marlborough Street magistrate who had a penchant for the ladies who appeared before him. This one took rooms
         in what might politely, if inaccurately, be called an hotel off Shaftesbury Avenue and persuaded his wife that when he was
         sitting he had to remain within the boundaries of his jurisdiction 24 hours a day.
      

      
      It was yet another who was the stipendiary in a case in which I appeared for a youth. His mother came to court with her erring
         child and I told her who was sitting. ‘He chucked my case last week,’ she said. ‘What for?’ I asked adding, ‘He’s not a bad
         old stick.’ ‘Tomming,’ she replied, adding in her turn, ‘Nah, he’s a punter.’ He generously would refuse to convict a girl
         of soliciting unless contraceptives were found in her handbag.
      

      
      In the 1980s, tiring of life as a defence lawyer, I decided to apply to become a stipendiary myself. My problem was that I
         had to supply references, preferably from a High Court or at least an Old Bailey judge or two. Instead of them the only person
         of any fame I could manage was an old TV wrestler and Soho frequenter for whom I once acted in a bastardy case. ‘Jim,’ he’d
         said at the time, ‘I wouldn’t mind having indigestion if I’d bit the apple.’ He clearly wouldn’t do and it was only when I
         saw the ‘punter-stipe’ leaving the Venus Rooms, a striptease club in Old Compton Street, that, so to speak, I seized the afternoon
         to ask for a reference. That it came to nothing is another link in the long chain of events leading to this book.
      

      
      Marlborough Street court first opened for business in 1795 and closed its doors to become a grand hotel in 2002. Its jurisdiction
         was Soho and part of the West End. Soho is said to be named after the hunting call ‘so-hoe!’ and people settled there after the
         Great Fire of London had moved thousands from the City. Although its boundaries are generally regarded as Oxford Street to
         the north, Coventry Street and Leicester Square to the south, Regent Street to the west and Charing Cross Road to the east,
         North Soho was what has become Fitzrovia. And so my boundaries have extended to the Euston Road in the north, Tottenham Court
         Road in the east and Great Portland Street in the west. Of course the denizens did not stay within the Square Mile so to speak.
         Often they flitted across the Charing Cross Road or into Regent Street and from time to time even further afield. I have followed
         them on some of their missions.
      

      
      While the Marlborough Street court may never have seen the Krays in its dock, over the years there were some famous names,
         including Oscar Wilde and Mick Jagger, through its doors. As always, profit is the keyword in a book on the underworld and
         so many of the more celebrated domestic murderers who graced the court can barely have a mention. Nevertheless, there are
         some who deserve recognition.
      

      
      In 1725 Catherine Hayes was burned at the stake for the murder of her husband John, who had a chandlery business on Tottenham
         Court Road and Tyburn Road, which would become Oxford Street. She was expecting to receive £1,500 on his death and persuaded
         Billings, her son by a previous lover, and a lodger to help her. After the unfortunate John Hayes had been butchered while
         drunk, his head was dumped in the Thames. Once it washed up, neighbours identified him and on 9 May 1726 Catherine went to
         Tyburn, drawn on a sledge where, unfortunately, the hangman Richard Arnet failed to strangle her before the flames spread
         and she was roasted alive. Thackeray’s story Catherine is based on her career.
      

      
      In 1761, the year when the madam Charlotte Hayes opened her ‘nunnery’ in Marlborough Street, one of the more celebrated murders
         of the eighteenth century took place in Leicester Square. In March that year the Swiss miniaturist painter, Theodore Gardelle,
         fell in love with his comely landlady Anne King. His passion was unrequited and early one morning he tried to rape her. She
         beat him off and was in the process of giving him a sound thrashing when he picked up a poker and knocked her to the ground.
         He believed he had killed her and, thinking the best thing would be to dispose of the body, decided to dismember it. There were no other lodgers and he sacked
         the maidservant before he began his work, which took him five days. Some parts were burned, some hidden in the attic or outhouses
         and some put in the outside privy. The neighbours became suspicious of the smell and smoke and called the constables. He was
         hanged by Thomas Turlis on 4 April that year on the corner of Panton Street and Haymarket.
      

      
      On Christmas Day 1836, Hannah Brown of 45 Riding House Street became the victim of her potential husband, James Greenacre,
         who had a shop in what is now between 19 and 20 Tottenham Court Road and was trying to perfect an early form of washing machine.
         She disappeared after visiting a friend in Windmill Street. Greenacre killed her because he discovered she did not have the
         fortune he was expecting to acquire on the marriage.
      

      
      On 30 September 1843, a German, Peter Keim, was stabbed to death in Marshall Street by a one-time friend, Wilhelm Steltynor,
         who seems to have tried to castrate him. The inquest jury sitting at the York Minster, Dean Street, was told that, when questioned
         by a constable, Steltynor had said somewhat enigmatically, ‘I meant to run it into Mr Keim and had it not been for the leather
         inside of his trousers, I should have ripped it all out.’ He was sentenced to death but he was reprieved after the German
         ambassador intervened.
      

      
      One of the most famous of Soho murders occurred in late October 1917. On 2 November the torso and arms of a woman were found
         wrapped in a meat sack and sheet in Regent Square, Bloomsbury. Nearby in a separate parcel were her legs. The dead woman,
         32 year old Émilienne Gérard, was traced through a laundry mark on the sheet to 50 Munster Square near Regent’s Park. On the
         mantelpiece was a portrait of a Soho butcher, Louis Voisin, and in the flat was a £50 IOU. When he was seen by Detective Inspector
         Wensley, Voisin was asked to write down ‘Bloody Belgium’ and he spelled it ‘Blodie Belgian’, exactly the spelling on a piece
         of paper found with the torso.
      

      
      In the basement of 101 Charlotte Street, where Voisin lived, was a cask in which Émilienne’s hands and head were found. His
         explanation was that she had told him she was going to France and asked him to look after her cat. When he went round he found
         her head and hands on a table and panicked. However, from the amount of blood in the cellar at Charlotte Street it was clear she had been killed there. She had been beaten about the head and there were signs
         of strangulation.
      

      
      The prosecution’s version of events was that Voisin had two mistresses and they met for the first time when Émilienne came
         uninvited to shelter from an air raid. Voisin was in bed with Berthe Roche; the women fought and Émilienne was struck a number
         of blows to the head.
      

      
      Although it was likely that it was Berthe who hit Émilienne – Voisin was far too strong to have done so little damage to her
         skull – he took the full blame at the trial. Instead of waiting for an interpreter, Mr Justice Darling passed the death sentence
         in French and Voisin was hanged on 2 March. Roche died two years into a seven-year sentence as an accessory after the fact.1

      
      One of Soho’s more entertaining murder cases was the 1936 killing of Douglas Bose by Douglas Burton. Bose had been living
         with, and treating badly, the one-time Augustus John model, Sylvia Gough, blackening her eye. When she appeared at their shared
         haunt, the Fitzroy Tavern, the 21-year-old Burton offered her the use of his flat. Later at a party he beat Bose to death
         with a hammer. His defence was that he had been driven insane by his unrequited love for another Fitzrovia habitué Betty May,
         known as Tiger Woman, who in her early life appeared in Paris cabarets. The defence succeeded. Old Bailey juries of the time
         never liked sending the middle-classes to the gallows, and Burton spent a relatively short time in a mental institution. One
         of the Tiger Woman’s more popular numbers was ‘The Raggle-Taggle Gypsies’, which she later sang with enthusiasm and without
         a skirt in Wally’s, a basement club in Fitzroy Street.
      

      
      One unsolved nineteenth-century murder was definitely for profit. Robert Westwood, who invented and patented the eight-day
         watch, was not a fortunate man. In 1822 he had been tied to a bed and robbed by William Redding, who had previously been convicted
         of capital crimes and had been transported. Redding, who was thought to have been involved in the murder of Mary Donatty in
         Bedford Row the same year, was hanged.
      

      
      Then on 7 June 1839, Westwood was attacked and killed in his rooms in Upper Rupert Street, which were set on fire. His throat
         was cut and some 80 watches valued at around £2,000 were missing. He was not a well-liked man. On one occasion when a sea captain returned a watch to him he snatched it from the man and stamped
         on it. On another he held a pistol to a customer’s head. He had also made numerous appearances at Marlborough Street court
         charged with minor assaults. Consequently, there were a number of possible suspects for his murder. Indeed, on the inquest
         jury was a man who had worked for Westwood and was reputed to have quarrelled bitterly with him. However, when he said he
         would give £50 of his own money for the arrest of the criminal, any thought of his involvement was wiped away. One neighbour,
         Nicholas Carron, a paper hanger in the traditional rather than criminal sense of the word, fled to America shortly after the
         murder and disappeared without trace.2

      
      On 6 December 1894 Marius Martin, a French-born night porter at the Café Royal in Regent Street, was found beaten to death
         in neighbouring Glasshouse Street. The motive may well have been robbery, but there was also the suggestion that he was deeply
         unpopular because he had been reporting other staff for taking home leftover food. No one was ever charged.
      

      
      In the decade before the court closed, there was a great escape from the cells by a bank robber, David Martin. A transvestite,
         who rather gave the game away, signalling his modus operandi by robbing banks dressed as a woman, Martin was also an expert
         lock picker. Charged with shooting at a policeman, on Christmas Eve 1982 he escaped from the cells at Marlborough Street and
         was off. He was not recaptured until the following March, when he was caught in a tunnel at Belsize Park underground station.
         In the meantime, a television producer, Stephen Waldorf, who had no direct connection with Martin, was shot by police who
         mistook him for the fugitive. He survived. Martin later committed suicide in prison after a row about which television programme
         the inmates should watch.3

   
      
      1
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      Early Whores and their Pimps

      
      From the time of the arrest of a ‘lewd woman’ in Soho Fields for breach of the peace in 1641, Soho has become synonymous with
         sex. It was certainly its home when, in around 1750, the madam Jane Goadby is credited with introducing the luxurious French-style
         brothel to London. After a visit to Paris she opened a house in Berwick Street, where the girls were decked out in lace and
         silk and underwent a weekly medical examination. Goadby had a long run as a madam. In 1779 the Nocturnal Revels commented that she was still ‘laying in good stocks of clean goods, warranted proof for the races and watering places during
         the coming summer’.
      

      
      One of the girls in her establishment, Elizabeth Armistead, married the Whig leader Charles James Fox at the age of 45. She
         lived to be 91 and among her earlier lovers had been the Prince of Wales, later George IV.
      

      
      In 1760 another Soho madam, Charlotte Hayes took up with an Irish con man Dennis O’Kelly, who later became a colonel of militia.
         Born in 1720, he came to England in 1744 and for a time worked as a sedan carrier and a billiards marker. Both he and Charlotte
         Hayes spent time in the Fleet debtors’ prison and were released in 1760 on the death of George II. The next year she opened
         a protestant ‘nunnery’ in Great Marlborough Street. O’Kelly was now a racing man and it was through his turf connections that
         he introduced the Dukes of Richmond and Chandos to the house.
      

      
      In 1770, with some of their money, O’Kelly bought a half share in the five-year-old racehorse Eclipse and then paid 1,750
         guineas to buy the animal outright. It was a sound investment. The unbeaten Eclipse was never even really extended. He won
         over £25,000 and sired three Derby winners, two of which were owned by O’Kelly. His progeny earned an enormous £160,000. Eclipse
         was still covering 50 mares a year when he died in 1790.
      

      
      Charlotte Hayes wasted much of the money she earned, and in 1770 and again in 1776 she was back in a debtors’ prison. O’Kelly
         died a rich man in 1788 leaving her £400 a year and a parrot that could recite the 104th Psalm. It was not sufficient and
         she was yet again in the debtors’ prison in 1798, after which she retired to Canons, a country estate in Edgware, where Eclipse
         had been buried eight years earlier.
      

      
      Seventeen sixty-one was indeed a vintage year. It was then that the beautiful Italian-born Theresa de Cornelys, who had for
         a time been the lover of the great Italian adventurer Jacques Casanova – by whom she may have had a daughter – took a lease
         on Carlisle House in Soho Square. There, for the next 20 years, she gave a series of subscription balls, in reality little
         short of orgies; 12 balls and suppers were for the nobility and another 12 for the middle classes. Entrance was 2 guineas
         a head. There was also an annual fancy-dress ball. One of the regular attendees was the Belgian clockmaker Joseph Merlin,
         who also invented roller skates and wore them during one party when, apparently playing the violin, he lost control and slid
         the length of the floor crashing into Mrs C’s expensive mirrors.1

      
      In June 1763, when Casanova arrived from Paris bringing with him Cornelys’ son Joseph by the dancer Pompeati, he was less
         than pleased to find that his former mistress had become too grand for him. He had been hoping to resume his position with
         her but instead was obliged to take rooms in Greek Street. His time in London signalled the beginning of his end as a great
         lover. He became re-enamoured of Marianne Charpillon, whom he had previously met in Paris and who, along with her mother and
         sisters, was now working as a prostitute. She led him a merry dance, taking his money and never surrendering the favours over
         which he had become besotted.
      

      
      On 27 November she had him brought before the blind magistrate Sir John Fielding, who bound him over to be of good behaviour in the sum of 40 guineas. Casanova had his revenge. Parrots
         must have been common currency in London at the time. He purchased one and, after teaching it to say in French, ‘The Charpillon
         is a greater whore than her mother’, sold the bird at a public house for 50 guineas. An attempt to sue him failed when Charpillon
         discovered she would need two witnesses to say that he had trained it.
      

      
      Casanova lasted only a few more months in London. Over a short time, Charpillon and her family had taken him for over 12,000
         guineas. After he won 520 guineas from a Baron Stenau, who gave him a forged bill of exchange in settlement, he was summoned
         to make it good or face proceedings for which the penalty on conviction was hanging. In the second week of March 1764, suffering
         from a venereal disease contracted from the baron’s mistress, he fled to Brussels and then to Germany.2

      
      But by the 1770s Soho was losing its cachet as an area for high-class prostitution. The madams such as Hayes, Goadby and Sarah
         Prendergast moved their houses nearer to St James’s and were setting up in George Court. The adventuress Theresa de Cornyles
         was now in decline. Her nemeses were her competitors. In 1772 she went bankrupt trying to take trade back from William Almanack’s
         premises in St James and the new magnificent Pantheon in Oxford Street. She died, worn out and ruined, in a debtors’ prison.
         With her decline came that of Soho as the place for what we might now call the B-list celebs to be seen.
      

      
      In the first half of the nineteenth century, Soho recovered its fair share of prime London brothels. Possibly because of the
         cold but more likely because of their school days, Englishmen have often had a penchant for flagellation. The White House
         at 21 Soho Square, run by Thomas Hooper, was an upper-class brothel where discipline was the speciality and was said to have
         had George IV as a patron. A Mrs James, who had been a maid in the family of Lord Clanricarde, ran one at 7 Carlisle Street,
         retiring to Notting Hill to live in luxury on the profits, but the best flagellation brothel in London was said to be that
         of Mrs Theresa Berkley at 28 Charlotte Street, where the speciality was the eponymous Berkley Horse.
      

      
      The device, made in 1828, was an extending frame that, according to Henry Spencer Ashbee, could ‘bring the body to any angle that might be desirable’. She was also reputed to have kept a
         more eclectic collection of instruments of torture than any other dominatrix in London. They included birch rods, which she
         kept in water so they remained pliant, a dozen cats-o’-nine-tails, nettles, and battledores made of thick sole leather with
         inch-long nails, as well as a prickly evergreen known as butcher’s bush.
      

      
      Mrs Berkley was reputed to have made £10,000 in eight years, and, when she died in 1836, her missionary brother, who had spent
         30 years in Australia, renounced his claim to her estate. Her executor presented the Horse to the Society of Arts at the Adelphi,
         while the Crown took the remainder of her fortune.3

      
      Street prostitutes, if sufficiently beautiful, could graduate. It was in New Compton Street that Harry Angelo saw Emma Hamilton,
         later Nelson’s Gift to the Nation, leaning against a post on the corner. That evening he bought her some biscuits and arranged
         to meet her again. He did not keep the appointment and the next time he saw her she had graduated to living at Mrs Kelly’s
         in Arlington Street.
      

      
      It was on 19 May 1853 that William Ewart Gladstone, then Chancellor of the Exchequer, committed one of the indiscretions that
         have linked his name to the prostitution of the time. Opinion is divided as to whether he saved prostitutes or merely saved
         them until later, but that evening he met a girl in Long Acre and brought her back to her lodgings in King Street. Unfortunately,
         he was seen by a young man who thought that, if he did not share the knowledge with the general public, Gladstone would get
         him a job at the Inland Revenue. The Chancellor was made of sterner stuff and the man received a year’s hard labour, later
         halved thanks to Gladstone’s intervention.
      

      
      Throughout the nineteenth century Regent Street was known as the haunt of prostitutes. In 1894 a man complained to The Times that, unless he was in company with his daughter, he could not walk down the street without being accosted.4 And it was a reputation that continued into the twentieth century. Shaftesbury Avenue and the Charing Cross Road were constructed
         in the late 1880s and, with the disappearance of King Street, Hog Lane and the Newport Market, divided Soho into two parts
         cut off from mainstream London. Now prostitutes, minded by their bullies, were on every corner; there were restaurants that were façades for brothels and then as now massage parlours to which young women were recruited as ‘nurses’.
         Leicester Square hotels were slow to clear prostitutes from their lounges and Shaftesbury Avenue was soon known as The Front.
         With prostitutes soliciting from the steps, the fountain in Piccadilly Circus of a cherub shooting an arrow – originally called
         the Angel of Christian Charity, commemorating the work of the reforming Lord Shaftesbury 50 years earlier – was informally
         renamed Eros.
      

      
      The vice trade was pushing up the rents in Soho and, while some brothels were neat and indeed respectable, others were simply
         places where the visitors were robbed on the staircase before they ever got near the girls’ rooms.
      

      
      When W. Hall, a lay preacher, was sent to work at St Anne’s Church, Dean Street, in 1891 he was warned that anyone who took
         a stand against the vice trade was likely to meet an untimely death. Indeed, in the letterbox one morning there was a postcard
         with a sketch of him turning a corner. A man behind him was stabbing him and he was due to fall into a coffin. There was a
         skull-and-crossbones motif and beneath the coffin were the words ‘Spy, villain, this much good for you. Revenge’.
      

      
      He survived, but it was a particularly rough time. Nevertheless, from 1892, efforts were made to clear away some of the brothels,
         and there was help from the Charing Cross Vigilance Society.
      

      
      Then, on 1 May 1905, came one of the early-twentieth-century Metropolitan Police scandals, when a French woman, Eva D’Angeley,
         was arrested for ‘riotous and indecent’ behaviour in Regent Street. The charge was dismissed after a Mr D’Angeley told the
         stipendiary that he was married to the lady and that she was merely waiting for him. Better still Sub-Divisional Inspector
         MacKay told the court he believed them to be a respectable married couple. So amid allegations of corruption, police harassment
         and bribery, a Royal Commission was established into methods and discipline in the force.
      

      
      The D’Angeley case was one of 19 selected for examination by the Commissioners and now rather different facts began to emerge.
         Reporting to the Commission, MacKay claimed that Greek Street ‘is one of the very worst streets I have to deal with. In fact
         it is the worst street in the West End of London.’ He had made further enquiries into Mrs D’Angeley and her husband and now realised he had been overgenerous towards the pair. They had retreated to Paris
         with such speed that they had forgotten to pack their trunks as well as forgetting to pay the rent on their lodgings. Unsurprisingly,
         offers by the Commission to pay their fares back to London were ignored. The case throws up all sorts of questions about MacKay.
         How could an experienced officer not recognise a French pimp? Why did he not ask for a short adjournment to make proper enquiries?
         But, as is so often the case, much of the report was a whitewash. The Commission found that, ‘The Metropolitan Police is entitled
         to the confidence of all classes of the community.’
      

      
      One of the abiding myths of Soho has been that, in the early years of the twentieth century, it was a home from home for the
         white slaver, something fuelled by the good Pastor Hall and others of St Anne’s Church. Mothers fretted that their daughters
         who ventured into the fringes of Soho would fall foul of the white slaver and, in a restaurant or café, would meet up with
         what appeared to be a respectable woman, feel the prick of a needle and wake up on a cargo boat to Cairo. A slightly less
         horrifying version was that the girl would be taken to a strange house in a strange neighbourhood, where she would be detained
         for a day or two and ill-treated by villainous men before being turned out in the depths of night to make her ruined way home.
      

      
      Percy Savage, a former superintendent of the CID who had worked the Soho patch, cast doubt on what amounted to this urban
         myth, saying he had never been able to find the slightest corroboration for these melodramatic kidnappings:
      

      
      
         Of one fact only have I succeeded in assuring myself, and it is that some girls rely on a somewhat vivid but limited imagination
            in order to excuse their voluntary absence from home when confronted by anxious and loving parents or matter-of-fact and incredulous
            employers.5

      

      
      Statistics are difficult to obtain and there is little doubt that young Jewish women fleeing the European pogroms were met
         on the docks in the East End and placed in lodgings that were little better than brothels. But was there a wholesale shipment of these girls to Cairo and Buenos Aires? The research of Sol Cohen of the Jewish
         Association for the Protection of Girls and Women claimed that in 1900 there were 125 such cases and in 1902 the number had
         almost doubled. He accepted, however, that many of the women had been prostitutes before coming to England and that in most
         cases there was no coercion.
      

      
      The findings differed from those accumulated four years later for a Metropolitan Police report that found that such cases
         were few and far between. They thought there were probably only half a dozen cases and, even so, these were French and Belgian
         girls – which made things all right, of course.6

      
      Over the next six years, vigilance committees, allied to a variety of religious and social agendas, continued to pressure
         the police, claiming that white slavers were kidnapping virtuous girls and so ‘reaping huge harvests of gold’. They had some
         support from the journalist George Sims, who, writing of Soho, thought that there were dozens of gambling dens run by foreigners
         who farmed out the streets to the ‘unfortunate alien women’ upon whom they lived. There was, he said, a well-organised syndicate
         that loitered in milliners’ and dress shops specifically to recruit English girls.7

      
      Indeed, there was generally an antiforeign feeling, with one newspaper in 1896 describing the denizens of Soho as speaking
         in ‘a sort of mongrel, bestial dialect more fit for the lips of gorillas and chimpanzees … a sort of reeking hotch-potch of
         obscene and quite meaningless expression’.8

      
      There is no doubt, however, that at least two well-organised and successful gangs operated in Soho in the first decade of
         the twentieth century. In 1910 Vera Wilson, a prostitute working in Wardour Street and the Leicester Square area, was kept
         under observation, and her French pimp Charles Peneau was arrested and charged with living off her immoral earnings. After
         the first remand hearing the wily solicitor Arthur Newton negotiated with Wontner’s, the prosecuting solicitors, for a noncustodial
         sentence to be imposed on the basis that Peneau was a boy of 19 from a good family, who were horrified by what had happened
         to him. The solicitors and magistrate agreed, but they were fooled. Young and from a good family Peneau may have been but, as Wilson later told the police in a fit of pique, he was a close associate of a ring of white slavers that included
         Altar or Aldo Cellis, Alexander Berard and two Spaniards operating the Paris end, Damiani and Casalta.
      

      
      Cellis, who was possibly Swiss-born or possibly Italian, had convictions in Australia. Along with a Frenchman, Alexander Nicolini,
         he had been recruiting Belgian girls, telling them they would be going to Wellington in New Zealand and Buenos Aires. On 30
         November 1910, defended by Newton, Cellis and Berard pleaded guilty to conspiracy to procure women and received six months
         with hard labour to be followed by deportation. Two of the women ‘rescued’, Mireille Laparra – who had been recruited at the
         Gare d’Austerlitz in Paris – and Marguerite Bescançon, were not pleased to be taken back to the Continent. According to a
         letter from the National Vigilance Association, which escorted them, the girls spent the crossing to Calais flirting with
         any men who came within eye contact.9

      
      The second ring was rather more long-lasting, wider in scope and, when it came to it, much more dangerous, at least for its
         members. Indeed, this was the first time that ‘Red Max’ Kessel came to police notice in a career that would continue until
         his death a quarter of a century later.10

      
      The investigations into this gang also began in 1910 with Marguerite Leroy, otherwise know as Antoinette Poulain, being given
         a sentence of a month for being a common prostitute along with another month for assaulting a client. Even before the assault
         she had been under observation and was seen handing money over to two men in cafés, restaurants and pubs in Soho, including
         the Admiral Duncan in Old Compton Street. Enquiries were made and it was found a gang of traffickers was operating from 40a
         Wells Street. At first the men were identified only as Max (who was Kessel) and Leon, whose name was Brieux and who had been
         running girls, including Vera Wilson, out of the Café Henry in Bloomsbury. 11 For the time being enquiries lapsed.
      

      
      On 17 October 1912 a small White Slave Traffic Squad, with a total strength of 14, was formed. On 7 November the next year
         John Curry, the detective inspector in charge, reported:
      

      
      
         I have to say that there has been an utter absence of evidence to justify these alarming statements, the effect of which was
            to cause a large shoal of complaints and allegations [many contained in anonymous letters] to be received by the police, against
            persons of all classes.
         

      

      
      There was no case of an innocent girl being kidnapped. ‘Mostly [they are] Jewesses of Russian or Polish origin [who] go to
         Argentina and Brazil.’12

      
      The strength of the squad was duly run down.

      
      One good thing had been the Criminal Law Amendment Act 1912, which provided the police with power to arrest on suspicion without
         a warrant, increased penalties and, at Quarter Sessions, allowed the judge to impose a flogging. As a result, said The Times, a number of foreign pimps had fled abroad.13

      
      One of the first women potentially to fall foul of the Amendment was Queenie Gerald, described as an actress, who was charged
         that between 15 December 1912 and 13 June 1913 she unlawfully lived on earnings of prostitution. When the police raided her
         at Abingdon House, Piccadilly Circus, they were admitted by a woman dressed as a nurse. Gerald was found to have £201 on her
         together with a quantity of jewellery and gold. Three girls between the ages of 17 and 19 worked for her, dividing their earnings
         equally. In the end she did rather well. She received three months in the Second Division with the deputy chairman at Quarter
         Sessions saying there was no suggestion of any cruelty by her, nor had she corrupted the girls. The newspapers were outraged,
         as was the Ladies’ National Association, which wanted to see a more severe sentence. Questions were asked in Parliament and
         MPs suggested she had been dealt with leniently because of names found in her black book, which had been suppressed.14

      
      On her release she immediately set up in Maddox Street and advertised in the Pelican:
      

      
      
         Anturic bath salts; effective in the cause of rheumatism. To be obtained from Gaynor, first floor, 9 Maddox Street, Regent
            Street W. Telephone 4658, Mayfair.
         

      

      
      The police kept watch on the premises but she had learned her lesson and there was never again evidence she was using the
         premises as a brothel. She would, however, resurface time and again over the next fifteen years.15

   
      
      2
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      A Crooked Lawyer and his American Clients

      
      With improved sailing time between New York and Liverpool, from the mid-1870s some of the great late-nineteenth-century American
         criminals were coming over to work and play in London, particularly if they found things a little warm at home. They included
         the so-called Emperor of Crime, Adam Worth, also known as Harry Raymond, who stole Gainsborough’s painting of the Duchess
         of Devonshire and slept with the canvas under his bed for the next quarter of a century; Annie Gleason, who was posing as
         the daughter of General Ulysses S. Grant; as well as the redoubtable Chicago May Sharpe (or Churchill) and Sophie Lyons, another
         talented thief and blackmailer.1

      
      Chicago May Sharpe, born in Ireland and whose first husband until his death had been part of the Dalton–Doolin outlaw gang,
         together with her friends worked the hotels and restaurants in and around Shaftesbury Avenue and Leicester Square, including
         the Alhambra – famous for decades for its ballet girls – which stood on the site of the present-day Odeon, picking up men,
         relieving them of their wallets and, when the opportunity arose, indulging in a spot of blackmail. What they needed was a
         reliable lawyer to help them out when things went sour. And the man they turned to was Arthur John Edward Newton of Great
         Marlborough Street.
      

      
      Sharpe thought reasonably well of Newton: ‘He was a smart man, charged good-sized fees and knew the ropes … He represented
         both big and little criminals and fixed his fees according to his clients’ ability to pay.’2

      
      The wonder was that Newton was still on the rolls of those allowed to practise as a solicitor. He had already been around
         the block a few times and had received a short prison sentence to go with it. Rather better educated than some solicitors
         of the time, he qualified in 1884. His father had been an actuary and manager of the Legal and General Assurance Society and
         Newton went to a preparatory school and then Cheltenham College, where he excelled at football, before he served articles
         with the fashionable firm Frere Foster in Lincoln’s Inn Fields.
      

      
      He then opened offices opposite Great Marlborough Street Police Court and within a matter of a few years his was one of the
         biggest criminal law practices in London.
      

      
      A cartoon by the fashionable Spy in the magazine Vanity Fair showed Newton in a double-breasted waistcoat and wing collar looking rather like Clarke Gable as Rhett Butler, and the adulatory
         article by Jehu Junior that accompanied it had Newton as ‘not eloquent but he is lucid; and though he is strong yet he is
         courteous. He can swim; he had more than once been found guilty of giving a conjuring entertainment. He has the great advantage
         of good appearance.’ As for his imprisonment, ‘… and then he once got himself into trouble by too zealous defence of an undeserving
         client’.
      

      
      The ‘undeserving client’ was Lord Arthur Somerset and the case the Cleveland Street Brothel Scandal of 1886, which stemmed
         from the arrest of certain boys who worked in the post office at St Martin’s-le-Grand and supplemented their income by male
         prostitution.3 It was thought, at first, that one of the boys had stolen money from the Receiver General’s Department and Charles Swinscow
         was asked how he could have as much as 18 shillings (90p) in his possession. Pressed for an explanation, he said it was from
         going with men at 19 Cleveland Street. He had, he said, been persuaded by Henry Newlove first to ‘behave indecently’ with
         him and then to go to the male brothel in Cleveland Street run by Charles Hammond which catered for the nobility. Another
         boy, the attractively named Thickbroom, was also involved.
      

      
      When questioned Newlove said that a visitor to the brothel was Lord Arthur Somerset, a major in the Blues and extra equerry
         to the Prince of Wales. Somerset approached Newton to act for him and the lawyer’s part in the affair was to try to get potential witnesses against his client out of the country.
      

      
      Early on in the inquiry, when it became apparent that it would be a far-ranging one, Newton went to see the Assistant Director
         of Public Prosecutions, Hamilton Cuffe, to warn him that if Somerset were to be prosecuted another name would appear. It would
         be that of Prince Albert Victor, known as Eddy, the eldest son of the Prince of Wales and grandson of Queen Victoria. It may
         be that Newton was exercising a spot of blackmail on behalf of his client – throughout his career there were suggestions that
         he was never averse to this. There may have been nothing sinister in Newton’s approach, but it was sufficient for Cuffe to
         inform the Director, Sir Augustus Stephenson, and so on up the chain to Lord Salisbury, the Prime Minister.
      

      
      Even though he had offered substantial terms – £50 cash, a new suit of clothes and £1 a week to run for three years as well
         as their passage to Australia – Newton failed in the attempt to spirit the boys away. What he was able to do was to warn Somerset
         that a warrant for his arrest was imminent. His Lordship left for France the next day. He died at Hyères on 26 May 1926.
      

      
      As for the boys, Newlove received four months with hard labour in the House of Correction and Swinscow and Thickbroom were
         dismissed from the post office. Hammond fled to Seattle.
      

      
      Summonses were issued against Newton, his clerk Frederick Taylorson, and a translator, Adolphe de Gallo. There was a general
         feeling among the public and the police that people in high places had been allowed to get away with things. Newton was to
         be the sacrificial lamb and, it must be said, he acted as such. Submissions that there was no case to answer failed at the
         police court when the three were committed for trial. All this cost money and now Newton was looking around for help. Lord
         Arthur’s father, the Duke of Beaufort, contributed £1,000 (he had been asked for £3,100). Others did likewise.
      

      
      At this stage it is probable that few thought anything serious would happen to Newton. De Gallo had already gone from the
         proceedings when the Grand Jury refused to indict him. Taylorson, meanwhile, was causing trouble. He refused to listen to
         the advice of his and Newton’s counsel, the great and formidable Sir Charles Russell QC, and plead guilty.
      

      
      The trial opened on 16 May 1890 in the Queen’s Bench Division. With Taylorson still remaining adamant that he would plead
         not guilty, the charges against him were dropped, which shows that sometimes, at least, the client has the better judgement.
      

      
      This left Newton to face Mr Justice Cave, a man with considerable experience in bankruptcy but little in criminal law. Russell
         had persuaded the prosecution to drop five of the charges in return for a plea of guilty to the sixth, a general count of
         perverting the course of justice. It was all intended to be a low-key affair. He had been told that ‘a persuasive rather than
         a hostile attitude towards the authorities would result in the matter not being too deeply gone into’.4 His mitigation was therefore that a young man had acted overzealously to prevent his client being subject to blackmail. There
         were still few at that moment who thought that anything more severe than a bind-over would be forthcoming. They were wrong.
      

      
      When Cave passed sentence on 20 May he made it quite clear that he did not think Newton had been acting from these altruistic
         motives:
      

      
      
         Your offence has been committed for the purpose of securing the absence of these persons from England in the interests of
            wealthy clients, and to impose a fine, therefore, would only in all probability result in their paying the fine for you. I
            must, therefore, pass a sentence of imprisonment.5

      

      
      Newton was sent to prison for six weeks. His brother lawyers thought he was being badly treated and 250 firms, including the
         great Lewis and Lewis, signed a petition to this effect. On his release he tried once more to tap the Duke of Beaufort and
         was again disappointed, something about which Newton felt extremely bitter. All was not bad news, however. He had already
         learned that the Law Society was not disposed to take any action against him. His brother solicitors’ hard work on his behalf
         in his absence paid off.
      

      
      Nor had the quality of his work suffered by his absence. In 1894 he took over the placing of a reward for the Duchess of Marlborough’s
         jewels, which had been stolen at Waterloo Station. The next year he acted for Alfred Taylor, the co-defendant of Oscar Wilde,
         and three years later for the disreputable Count Esterhazy in a successful libel action against the Observer, when he was awarded £500.
      

      
      By the turn of the century Newton had one of the biggest criminal practices in London. His clients ranged from the louche
         to the criminal; from the music-hall star Marie Lloyd through Dukes and Duchesses to chorus girls and adventuresses; from
         actors to the talented but dishonest American jockey, Tod Sloan; and mostly he did what he could for all of them. He had the
         reputation as a great fixer with the ability to charge an astounding £100 for a telephone call that removed the wart from
         a client’s back.
      

      
      Newton first acted for Chicago May Sharpe in 1900, when she quarrelled with Julia Barrington, who had run a brothel in New
         York and had brought over four girls to work in London. The fault was entirely that of Sharpe, who enticed one of Barrington’s
         girls to go to work with her. Barrington retaliated by denouncing Sharpe to the detective Jack Stevens, known – because of
         his swarthy skin rather than his religion – as Jew Boy. Sharpe then pulled the woman out of a cab and tore off her wig. A
         few days later there was a fight involving Grace Fowler, another of Barrington’s girls, outside the public library in Trafalgar
         Square, which ended up with Sharpe being accused of stealing a $500 earring. The case was thrown out but Sharpe noted that,
         when Newton learned she had a criminal record, he upped his fee.6 It did not stop her from sending him a steady stream of American clients, many of whom had been caught too near other people’s
         safes.
      

      
      In 1907 when she and Charles Smith shot and wounded her former lover, the talented safebreaker Eddie Guerin, near Russell
         Square underground station, it was again to Newton that she turned for her defence. The reason for the shooting was a longstanding
         quarrel over a robbery in Paris. Guerin believed, rightly, that she had shopped him, as a result of which he had been sent
         to Devil’s Island, from which he had escaped, killing his fellow escapers (which he admitted) and eating them (which he did
         not). Newton also could seemingly be used as a conduit pipe for messages. In a letter intercepted by the authorities at Holloway
         Prison she wrote to her current boyfriend, Baby Thompson, ‘You can hear all from Arthur Newton’.7

      
      It was not one of Newton’s more successful cases. Smith and Sharpe appeared in front of Lord Darling claiming that Guerin,
         who lost two toes in the incident, was shooting at them and they were acting in self-defence, but the jury convicted them without
         leaving the box. Smith received life imprisonment and Chicago May a mere 15 years. After serving 10, she was deported to America.
      

      
      Guerin stayed in London, where he was part of a team who were unsuccessfully trying to remove a parcel of jewels from a French
         dealer, Frederick Goldschmidt, who was in town in June and July 1909 to try to sell them.8 There were a number of teams on the lookout and it was really only a question of who could actually get to the jeweller.
         First past the post was the former lightweight jockey Harry Grimshaw at the Café Monico in Shaftesbury Avenue.
      

      
      Goldschmidt stayed at De Keyser’s hotel on the Embankment and it became clear that the only time he ever put his case down
         in public was when he washed his hands. On 9 July he went to the lavatory in the Café Monico, put his bag beside him and,
         as he reached out for the soap, was pushed off balance and the bag was snatched by the small but extremely quick Grimshaw.
         As Goldschmidt chased after him, his passage was blocked by another member of the team, John Higgins. The jewels, worth some
         £60,000, were never found. Had the pair struck the previous day, the haul would have been nearer £160,000.
      

      
      Within a matter of hours, the police obtained a search warrant of the noted receiver Kemmy Grizzard’s home in Dalston and
         found him at dinner with his guests, three potential buyers. Grizzard and his company sat at the dinner table while the police
         searched the house, but nothing was found. After they had gone, Grizzard drank his now cold pea soup and at the bottom of
         the bowl was a diamond necklace from the haul, which was then cleaned and sold.
      

      
      Higgins, defended by Newton, received 15 months’ and Grimshaw three years’ penal servitude to be followed by five years’ preventive
         detention. It was thought that altogether six men were involved in the snatch and the police had their eyes on two great Australian
         thieves and confidence tricksters, Walter Macdonald and Daniel Delaney, but no more arrests were made.9

      
      The diminutive Annie Gleason first appeared at London Sessions for an attempted theft from Christie’s in 1905 when she received
         three years. In January 1909 she married an American, Theodore Albert Gillespie, who was one half of a comic duo, Ferguson
         and Mack, and they lived together at 34 Little Newport Street. It was a bigamous marriage because her real husband, Mickey Gleason, was
         serving a sentence in Munich. Two years later she received five years for theft, again at London Sessions. Gillespie visited
         her in the cells and died of a broken heart (she said) within a month.
      

      
      But her real downfall came when, on 23 April 1915, she was back at the Old Bailey along with another American, Charlie Allen.
         This time it was not simply switching fake for genuine jewellery but robbery with violence of a jeweller Wladyslaw Gutowski
         from Percy Street, when they stole some £1,600 worth of gems. As Mrs Ferguson, she had been working with some Russians thieves.
         She told the jeweller that she was being kept in style by an English milord who wanted to buy her some valuable diamonds.
         She had already dealt with Gutowski, buying a small diamond ring from him for £27 as part of the come-on. Now she was staying
         at the Savoy Mansions, where some years later the actress Billie Carleton would kill herself on the night of the Victory Ball.
      

      
      On 10 February, Gutowski dutifully appeared for the appointment, bringing some £20,000 of jewellery with him. He was sandbagged
         and then chloroformed by one of the Russians posing as a page. Allen was the lookout man. When the police searched the flat,
         they found a lady’s silk handkerchief in a drawer and Gleason was traced through the laundry mark. None of the gems were recovered.
      

      
      At least in court she and Allen were given their due when they were described as ‘two of the most dangerous thieves in the
         world’ and she was ‘looked upon as one of the most successful American thieves we have here today’. Allen received 12 years
         and 12 strokes of the cat. Gleason was sentenced to ten years and, as she left the dock, ‘looked reproachfully’ at Mr Justice
         Lawrence.10 Allen died in prison. She was released on licence on 27 January 1923 and died 12 years later in Chicago.11

      
      A look through the Metropolitan Police files and reports in The Times shows the number of serious cases in which Newton appeared. He featured for the defence in most of the major murder trials
         of the decade but in 1911 he was suspended by the Law Society for his conduct in the case of the dentist Harvey Hawley Crippen,
         accused of poisoning his wife, the music-hall actress, Belle Elmore.
      

      
      By the time of the Crippen trial Newton was 50, with a taste for the finest Havana cigars and a penchant for wearing dove-grey
         gloves, which he ordered by the gross from a glove maker in Jermyn Street. Asked about the gloves he commented, ‘But in our
         profession it is so difficult to keep one’s hands clean.’
      

      
      According to W.E. Henchy, his managing clerk, Newton had angled for Crippen as a high-profile money spinner, which would enable
         him to pay off his racing debts. A heavy gambler relying largely and foolishly on the tips given to him by Tod Sloan, he was
         also a serious money borrower.
      

      
      Crippen thought he was to receive £500 for his memoirs from the New York American. Newton had also obtained £1,000 for Crippen to undertake a two-month lecture tour of the States in the event of an acquittal.
         Newton invested some of Crippen’s money, which the man earmarked for his mistress, Ethel Le Neve, in the Charing Cross Bank,
         but, sadly, the bank failed on the day he stood trial. It owed £2,500,000 to depositors and had failed through a fraudulent
         land speculation in Canada.
      

      
      What really upset the Law Society, however, was the deal Newton made over the sale of Crippen’s confession. It was then common
         practice in a sensational murder, when there was no legal aid available except representation under the Poor Persons’ Defence
         Act, for a newspaper to pay the defence costs. The quid pro quo was that the defendant would give an exclusive story to the funding paper with, in the event of a conviction, a death-cell
         confession to be published usually on the Sunday after his execution. Newton simply fabricated the confession. On 12 July
         1911 he was suspended from practice for 12 months.
      

      
      All was not well at the Marlborough Street court in the years before World War One. The Metropolitan Police Commissioner received
         a series of complaints that his detectives were shaking down the Soho gaming club and brothel owners in return for which they
         were either left alone or were warned of imminent raids. The clerks at the court were also suspected of leaking documents
         to the club owners and there was more than a little thought that solicitors were doing the same. One solicitor disappeared
         completely and a second was caught in a raid on a particularly low-class gambling den. This left a couple of other firms and the temporarily restored Mr Newton, but now his mind was on bigger things.
      

      
      In 1913, along with a Berkeley Bennett, he was charged with conspiracy to defraud a young and rich pigeon, Hans Thorsch, in
         another fraudulent Canadian land deal. Bennett falsely represented himself as a close relation of Gordon Bennett, the millionaire
         proprietor of the New York Herald. Newton banked the cheques. A third conspirator, Count Festetics, who was certainly Hungarian, but probably not a count and
         who most likely devised the operation, was never found, but the trio cleared around £9,500 profit from the unfortunate Austrian.
      

      
      Pleas that his practice would fail and that his wife would be left penniless went unheeded, particularly after the officer
         in the case pointed out that Newton had been living with a mistress for some years He received three years’ penal servitude
         and Bennett half that.12

      
      This time, the Law Society did strike him off the rolls and the firm passed to his son, but it did not remain long in business.
         After his release, Newton became a private detective and also a marriage broker, negotiating settlements between those who
         were rich but had no social status and those who had but were penniless. His prison sentence in no way diminished him in the
         public eye. Until his death he wrote several series of articles about his most famous cases. He could also be relied on to
         help out in the dodgy divorces that were so much a feature of the 1920s, supplying girls to be the ‘woman named’ in a petition.
      

      
      Game to the last, shortly before his death on 3 October 1930, living at 71a Ebury Street, Chelsea, Newton was fined for his
         involvement in a gambling club in the West End. He was then seventy.
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      The Great War

      
      For a time immediately after the Great War broke out, the authorities were keen to promote the belief that what were then described
         as the industrial classes, and London criminals in particular, were behaving well. In September 1914 Robert Wallace KC, sitting
         at the County of London Sessions, said that, ‘the spirit of restraint which has come over the people is perfectly marvellous’.
         The Times commented in the December, ‘The criminals, we are assured by those who know them, are too patriotic to take advantage of
         the nation’s need …’
      

      
      Perhaps a little carried away, a London magistrate told The Times that month:
      

      
      
         The criminal is a patriot. There is a genuine feeling of public spirit to be noticed today among those whom we call the criminal
            classes. Not only the graver forms of crime – those attended by violence, for example – but the most casual type of offence
            is less common than in the time of peace. The same moral improvement in the criminal was noticed – though not in so marked
            a degree – during the South African War. The criminal, like the honest citizen, is impressed by the war conditions which make
            it every man’s duty to give as little trouble as possible.1

      

      
      It may have been Chartres Biron who spoke to The Times because he later wrote in his memoirs:
      

      
      
         The war had a curious effect on the work of the London police courts. It almost disappeared. This was partly due, no doubt,
            to high wages and abundance of employment. The early closing of public houses undoubtedly helped; but the criminals, to do
            them justice, stood by their country.2

      

      
      That may have been the view of the magistrates and The Times. At ground level, however, police officers took a different one. In his memoirs, George Cornish, the senior detective officer
         at Tottenham Court Road, wrote that because of the heavy workload involving rounding up enemy aliens in and around Charlotte
         Street which housed the prewar German colony, ‘Crime, too, increased owing to our depleted staff and the general unrest and
         excitement.’3

      
      They were right to keep an eye on the quarter. In 1916 the Spanish-born spy Adolpho, who claimed to be a Spanish journalist
         on a Madrid paper, was arrested in Whitfield Street. Put on trial, in the July he received 10 years’ penal servitude.
      

      
      Certainly, not all the industrial classes behaved creditably. Desertions began almost immediately. On 12 August 1914 one of
         the earliest, Donald Lesbini, shot and killed Alice Storey, who worked at a cheap shooting gallery in Tottenham Court Road.
         Lesbini, of Greek origin, had taken offence when she called him Ikey. He was convicted and sentenced to death but was reprieved.
         In prison his mental stability deteriorated and in 1931 he was sent to Broadmoor.
      

      
      One concern of the authorities was the amount of alcohol being consumed, particularly by female munitions workers. A survey
         of four London public houses for one hour one Saturday evening showed that 1,483 men and 1,946 women consumed alcohol. In
         January 1915 David Lloyd George claimed that, ‘Britain is fighting Germans, Austrians and Drink and as far as I can see the
         greatest of these foes is Drink.’
      

      
      In April that year King George V, setting an example to the nation, said that until the war was over there would be no alcohol
         drunk in the royal household. Six months later a No Treating Order prohibited people buying alcoholic drinks for others. Pubs
         now shut three hours earlier at 9.30 pm. Taxes on whisky were increased. By the end of the war, a bottle of whisky which had
         cost 4 shillings (20p) in 1914 now cost £1. Naturally, as a result, whisky was stolen by the vanload and duly sold on to publicans.
      

      
      It was also desirable to keep serving officers away from gambling clubs. In April 1915 the Court of Criminal Appeal upheld
         a sentence of four months on James Gibson, who had been running chemin de fer games in the West End. The danger, thought the court, was that officers who had lost were encouraged to find other players
         in the hope that their debts might be wiped off. Later in the war, the authorities began to stamp on women-only gambling dens
         catering for wives whose husbands had been in a good financial position before they joined the services.
      

      
      As the war dragged on, officers, particularly in uniform, had to be kept out of London brothels. In January 1917 a man called
         Brewis from St Helens visited Queenie Gerald, who had now elevated herself to the aristocracy and was the Hon. Geraldine Gaynor,
         and complained he was made drunk and drugged. ‘In the morning he discovered he had damaged the bed upon which he had slept
         during the night.’ She wrote demanding first £25 and then £68 for damage to the bed, carpets, bedclothes and dressing table.
         He went to his solicitors and they contacted the police.
      

      
      Police enquiries showed that military officers in uniform had also visited her at Maddox Street and it was thought there might
         be a case for prosecuting her under Section 13 of the Defence of the Realm Act, but in the end no action was taken.4

      
      Cocaine was now introduced to London in bulk by Canadian soldiers. Although there was heavy traffic between Amsterdam and
         German cities and Paris from about 1911, it had not been a serious problem before the war. Generally it was sold in small
         bottles under another name.5
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